#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2006-CP-01842

## **RONALD HENRY PIERCE**

Defendant -Appellant

Versus

#### ERNEST ALLAN COOK

Plaintiff -Appellee

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Rankin County

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT RONALD HENRY PIERCE**

RONALD HENRY PIERCE, PRO SE

Ronald Henry Pierce (MS Bar No Post Office Box 1928 Jackson, Mississippi 39215-1928 (601) 366-0454 FAX: 601-362-4200

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### RONALD HENRY PIERCE

**DEFENDANT/APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2006-CP-01842

#### ERNEST ALLAN COOK

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

## CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the lower court erred in denying Pierce's Motion for Partial Directed Verdict?
- II. Whether the lower court erred in denying Pierce's Motion For JNOV Or, Alternatively, A New Trial?
- III. Whether the lower court erred in granting Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20)?
- IV. Whether the cumulative effect of errors in the exclusion of relevant evidence deprived Pierce of a fair trial, thus requiring reversal and remand for a new trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Nature of Case, Course of Proceeding and Disposition in the Court Below.

On December 23, 2002, Appellee (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Cook") filed a civil action in the Circuit Court of Rankin County (styled "Ernest Allan Cook v. Ronald Henry Pierce", Civil Action No. 2002-386), asserting claims of a) alienation of affection, b) breach of contract, and c) intentional infliction of emotional distress [CP p12 (RE p41)]. A trial was held, and at the close of Mr. Cook's case-in-chief, Appellant (hereinafter referred to as "Pierce" or "Mr. Pierce") moved the trial court for an order granting Pierce a Partial Directed Verdict on the claims of a) breach of contract, and b) intentional infliction of emotional distress, and the trial court denied Pierce's Motion for Partial Directed Verdict [T. p668-671 (RE p29-32)]. A Judgment was entered against Pierce on July 7, 2006. [CP p203 9RE p33)]. On July 17, 2006, Pierce filed a Motion for JNOV Or, Alternatively, A New Trial, which was denied by the trial court. [CP p. (RE p.38] Pierce filed a Notice of Appeal on May 18, 2006.

#### B. Statement of the Facts.

Pierce was hired as an attorney by Mr. Cook and his wife to pursue legal action against their child's doctors for medical malpractice. The underlying lawsuit was filed on behalf of the Cooks in the Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi on February 13, 1998, against the Children's Medical Group, P.A. and several of the pediatricians at that clinic who treated "Ernie" Cook, the minor son of the Cooks. The lawsuit was filed to recover damages the Cooks suffered as a result of Ernie's pediatricians' misrepresentations, fraud and breach of their duties to the Cooks in the days, months and years after the vaccination at issue; specifically, it was alleged that Ernie's pediatricians affirmatively misrepresented Ernie's reaction to his second DPT vaccination and subsequent

developmental problems in a fraudulent scheme to conceal the true nature of Ernie's reaction to the vaccine until after the thirty-six (36) month statute of repose under the Vaccine Injury Compensation Act had passed. Circuit Court Judge Swan Yerger initially granted Defendants' motion for summary judgment early in the case and an appeal was taken to the Mississippi Supreme Court, which ultimately reversed Judge Yerger's grant of summary judgment. See, Cook v. Children's' Medical Group, 756 So.2d 734 (Miss.1999). The damages sought in the medical malpractice case related solely to those damages caused by the physician's failure to inform the Cooks of Ernie's adverse reaction.

At the time the medical malpractice suit was filed, February 13, 1998, Pierce was practicing law in Oxford, Mississippi. In September of 1999, Pierce moved back to his hometown of Pearl, Mississippi, where Pierce opened an office. In June of 2000, Mr. Cook left his wife and children to move to Hollywood, California to pursuant a career in the film industry. [T.147-148] By September 1, 2001, Mr. Cook and his wife (now married to Mr. Pierce) finally separated and ceased all martial cohabitation. [See the Child Custody and Property Settlement Agreement attached as Exhibit "A" to the Judgment of Divorce, which was introduced as Defendant's Exhibit #10]

Pierce began having romantic interest in Mrs. Pierce in August of 2000, and their affair resulted in sexual relations between Pierce and Mrs. Pierce on or about September 30, 2000. [T. p. 105:5-9 (RE p. 140), T. P.690:9-14 (RE p.145)]. By the first of October, 2000, Mr. Cook was aware of the affair and hired an attorney and a private investigator. [T. p. 148:8-15 (RE p. 150), T. p.158:25 to p.159:7 (RE p.160-161), T. p.174:15 to p. 175:11 (RE p.168-169)]

Pierce was terminated as Mr. Cook's attorney in December, 2000. [T. p. 715:12-13 (RE p. 149)]. Mr. Cook retained new counsel and the malpractice case was ultimately settled. [T.

p.748:26 to p. 749:8 (RE p. 263-264). Although Pierce took the case on a contingency fee basis, Pierce did not receive any legal fees from the litigation. [T. p.686-687 (RE p. 141-142)]

Mr. Cook chose not to file this action against Pierce until December 23, 2002, well beyond any calculation of the one-year statute of limitations. Furthermore, Mr. Cook chose not to present any expert testimony for his claim of legal malpractice against Pierce.

#### **Summary of the Argument**

Since Mr. Cook was not entitled to and did not receive a directed verdict on his claim of legal malpractice, he was required to provide expert testimony to support his claim of legal malpractice. Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to Mr. Cook's claim of legal malpractice (i.e., "breach of contract") and the Court should render a judgment dismissing Mr. Cook's claim of legal malpractice.

The law is clear that the statute of limitations for intentional infliction of emotional distress is one year and it begins accruing on the date of the "alleged incident. Although it is unclear exactly what date the Mr. Cook really became aware of the affair, it was undisputed that Mr. Cook was made aware of the affair during the deposition of Mr. Pierce taken in his divorce case on January 29, 2001, and that Mrs. Pierce admitted to sexual relations with Pierce during her deposition on February 15, 2001. Mr. Cook chose not to file this action until December 23, 2002, well beyond any calculation of the one-year statute of limitations. Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to Mr. Cook's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress and the Court should render a judgment dismissing Mr. Cook's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress.

At the request of Mr. Cook's counsel, the trial court gave Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20)

[CP p.169 (RE p.123)], which instructed the jury as follows:

#### JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 10

The Court instructs the Jury that a lawyers owes his clients duties falling into three broad categories, duty of care, duty of loyalty and duties provided by contract.

Pierce objected to the giving of this instruction (which was Plaintiff's instruction P20). Since Mr. Cook did not provide expert testimony to support his claim of legal malpractice, the giving of this instruction was, in essence, allowing the Rules of Professional Conduct to be used in a civil trial without the need of expert testimony to explain them, which the Mississippi Supreme Court has held is improper. Violation of a Rule of Professional Conduct does not give rise to a cause of action nor does it create any presumption that a legal duty has been breached. The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide a structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies. They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability. The Mississippi Supreme Court has concluded that the Rules of Professional Conduct are not to be used in the way that the trial court used them in Jury Instruction No. 10. The use of Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20) [CP p.169 (RE p.123)] allowed Mr. Cook to use the Rules of Civil Procedure inappropriately. The trial Court committed prejudicial error by instructing the jury in this manner on such a crucial, vital issue as an attorney's "duties". The instruction of the jury in this matter tainted the jury's deliberation on all counts which unduly prejudiced the jury. Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to any remaining claims and Pierce should be granted a new trial.

While no trial is "perfect" and no one is entitled to a "perfect" trial, the cumulative effect of errors in the exclusion of relevant evidence deprived Pierce of a fair trial, thus requiring reversal and remand for a new trial. Although the allegation that he no longer gets to see his

children as a result of Pierce was a cornerstone of Mr. Cook's allegations, the trial court refused to allow Pierce to cross-examine Mr. Cook about the fact that he does not visit his children because he chooses to live a care-free, jobless lifestyle at his new home in Hollywood, California and chooses not to visit his children of his on volition. As a result of the trial court's rulings, Pierce was not allowed to question Mr. Cook about the state of his relationship with his children before the alienation. Because Pierce was not allowed to show the jury Mr. Cook's own actions and/or inactions with regard to parenting his children, Pierce was deprived of a fair trial and was unduly prejudiced. Pierce should have been allowed to question Mr. Cook regarding his relationship with his children. One of the primary issues in this case was whether Pierce caused Mr. Cook's relationship with his children to suffer and, as a result of the trial court's rulings, Mr. Cook was allowed to portray his relationship with his children as perfect until Pierce entered the picture and thus the jury was not given the whole story. Depriving Pierce of the ability to cross-examine Mr. Cook regarding one of the central themes of his case deprived Pierce of a fair trial.

Mr. Cook's accountant, Raleigh Cutrer testified that, as a result of the alienation of his wife, Mr. Cook had to remove a total of \$499,000 from his trust fund. In addition, however, Mr. Cutrer testified that Mr. Cook lost between \$65,000.00 to \$115,000.00 because of the loss of income because of having to withdraw these funds from his trust (using a speculative return on investment of between 10% to 15%). When Pierce's counsel attempted to discover the total values of the trusts before and after, the trial court sustained Mr. Cook's objection. The accountant "cherry-picked" a rate of return on investment of between 10% to 15%), when he later testified that the trust had very little return in 2000, a one percent loss in 2001, a fifteen percent loss in 2002, before "positive" returns in 2003 and 2004. In order to diligently cross-examine the witness as to whether his use of

return on investment of between 10% to 15%) was speculative or not, Pierce should have been entitled to discovery the total value of the trust before his involvement with Mr. Cook's wife and at the time of trial. This is the only manner in which a proper "rate of return" for the trust could be established. Not allowing this evidence left the jury to speculate as to what the proper rate of return deprived Pierce of a fair trial.

Although the trial court gave Mr. Cook what can only be described as "wide latitude" in guessing what Mr. Pierce said on a tape-recorded message that was largely inaudible, the trial court refused to allow Pierce to testify that he was referring to Mr. Cook's stepfather on the phone message that he left Mr. Cook on his birthday, and not Mr. Cook's deceased father (whom his children refer to as "Grandpa"). Furthermore, Pierce was not allowed to elaborate on the fact that he mistakenly referred to Mr. Cook's stepfather as his "father" because his stepfather had been in his life for such a long time; in fact, he used to be Mr. Cook's uncle (married to Mr. Cook's father's sister). Finally, the trial court refused to allow Pierce to ask Mr. Cook's mother, Dorothy Sprayberry, whether it would be unusual for someone to refer to her husband as Mr. Cook's father. These rulings deprived Mr. Pierce of the ability to explain his comments in a tape recorded message that was the "heart" of Mr. Cook's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress. While this error may be small in and of itself, when combined with the other errors of the trial court the cumulative effect of these errors in the exclusion of relevant evidence deprived Pierce of a fair trial.

Finally, the trial court erred in refusing to allow Pierce to cross-examine Mr. Cook as to why he refused his wife's request to title their marital home from Mr. Cook's trust to their names as husband and wife. Pierce should have been allowed to show the jury that Mr. Cook's total and

complete financial domination of Mrs. Pierce was the reason she chose to divorce him, independent of Pierce's conduct. Again, although this error may be small in and of itself, when combined with the other errors of the trial court the cumulative effect of these errors in the exclusion of relevant evidence deprived Pierce of a fair trial.

## Argument

- I. The lower court erred in denying Pierce's Motion for Partial Directed Verdict and denying Pierce's Motion for A JNOV.
  - a. The lower court should have granted Pierce's Motion for Directed Verdict Or Pierce's Motion for a JNOV on Mr. Cook's claim of legal malpractice because Mr. Cook failed to offer any legal expert testimony to explain the professional duties owed by Pierce or to offer any opinions as to whether Pierce breached any professional duty which proximately caused damage to Mr. Cook.

Since Mr. Cook was not entitled to and did not receive a directed verdict on his claim of legal malpractice, he was required to provide expert testimony to support his claim of legal malpractice. Lane v. Oustalet, 873 So.2d 92, 99 (Miss.2004); Hickox v. Holleman, 502 So.2d 626, 635 ((Miss.1987); Dean v. Conn, 419 So.2d 148, 150 (Miss.1982). Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to Mr. Cook's claim of legal malpractice (i.e., "breach of contract") and the Court should render a judgment dismissing Mr. Cook's claim of legal malpractice.

b. The lower court should have granted Pierce's Motion for Directed Verdict Or Pierce's Motion for a JNOV on Mr. Cook's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress because this claim was barred by the statute of limitations.

In denying Mr. Pierce's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, the trial court ruled that this tort "is a continuing type tort. . ." [T.p.671:8-13 (RE p.32)]. But the law is clear that the statute of limitations for intentional infliction of emotional distress is one year and it begins

accruing on the date of the "alleged incident." Slaydon v. Hansford, 830 So2d. 686, 688 (Miss.2002). Although it is unclear exactly what date the Mr. Cook really became aware of the affair, it was undisputed that Mr. Cook was made aware of the affair during the deposition of Mr. Pierce taken in his divorce case on January 29, 2001, and that Mrs. Pierce admitted to sexual relations with Pierce during her deposition on February 15, 2001 [Defendant's Exhibit D-10]. However, Mr. Cook's complaint was not filed until December 23, 2002, more than a year and ten months after the later date of February 15, 2001. Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to Mr. Cook's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress, and the Court should render a judgment dismissing Mr .Cook's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress.

## II. The lower court erred in granting Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20).

At the request of Mr. Cook's counsel, the trial court gave Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20) [CP p.169 (RE p.123)], which instructed the jury as follows:

#### JURY INSTRUCTION NO. 10

The Court instructs the Jury that a lawyers owes his clients duties falling into three broad categories, duty of care, duty of loyalty and duties provided by contract.

Pierce objected to the giving of this instruction (which was Plaintiff's instruction P20). [T. p865:13 (RE p.25)]

As stated above, since Mr. Cook was not entitled to and did not receive a directed verdict on this claim of legal malpractice, he was required to provide expert testimony to support his claim of legal malpractice. Lane v. Oustalet, 873 So.2d 92, 99 (Miss.2004); Hickox v. Holleman, 502 So.2d 626, 635 ((Miss.1987); Dean v. Conn, 419 So.2d 148, 150 (Miss.1982). The giving of this instruction was, in essence, allowing the Rules of Professional Conduct to be used in a civil

trial without the need of expert testimony to explain them, which the Mississippi Supreme Court has held is improper. Violation of a Rule of Professional Conduct does not give rise to a cause of action nor does it create any presumption that a legal duty has been breached. The Rules are designed to provide guidance to lawyers and to provide a structure for regulating conduct through disciplinary agencies. They are not designed to be a basis for civil liability. Explaining why the Rules of Professional Conduct are not to be used in the way that the trial court used them in Jury Instruction No. 10, the Mississippi Supreme Court has declared:

Furthermore, the purpose of the Rules can be subverted when they are invoked by opposing parties as procedural weapons. The fact that a Rule is just basis for a lawyer's self-assessment, or for sanctioning a lawyer under the administration of a disciplinary authority, does not imply that an antagonist in a collateral proceeding or transaction has standing to seek enforcement of the Rules. Accordingly, nothing in the rules should be deemed to augment any substantive legal duties of lawyers or the extra-disciplinary consequences of violating such a duty.

Wilbourn v. Stennett, Wilkinson & Ward, 687 So. 2d 1205, 1216 (Miss. 1997).

The use of Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20) [CP p.169 (RE p.123)] allowed Mr. Cook to use the Rules of Civil Procedure inappropriately. The trial Court committed prejudicial error by instructing the jury in this manner on such a crucial, vital issue as an attorney's "duties". The instruction of the jury in this matter tainted the jury's deliberation on all counts which unduly prejudiced the jury. Therefore, the verdict and the judgment entered thereon in this case on July 7, 2006, should be set aside as to any remaining claims and Pierce should be granted a new trial.

# III. The cumulative effect of errors in the exclusion of relevant evidence deprived Pierce of a fair trial, thus requiring reversal and remand for a new trial.

Pierce realizes that no trial is "perfect" and no one is entitled to a "perfect" trial.

Therefore, Pierce will only focus on those errors which deprived Pierce of a "fair" trial.

a. The lower court refused to allow Pierce to put on evidence that Mr. Cook does not visit his children because he chooses to live a care-free, jobless lifestyle at his new home in Hollywood, California and chooses not to visit his children of his on volition.

In Mr. Cook's complaint under Count One "Alienation of Affection", Mr. Cook alleges that part of the damages he has suffered as a result of the alienation of affection is being deprived of the ability to enjoy "the pleasure and companionship of his familial relationship" with his children. [CP p15, at ¶ 13 (RE p.44). In Mr. Cook's complaint under Count Three "Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress", Mr. Cook alleges as a result of Pierce's intentional acts Mr. Cook's minor children have been deprived of Cook's companionship. [CP p19, at ¶ 20 (RE p.48). In the opening statement, Mr. Cook's attorney argued:

And that's what we're going to show you, that this intentional infliction caused him damage . . caused him not to be able to tuck his children into school – into bed, caused him not to be able to hug his children on Father's Day, on Christmas morning. And that is emotional damage. He's suffered.

[T. p. 12:18-26 (RE p. 128)]

His counsel further stated:

There was a breach of that knowledge that caused Mr. cook to be separated from his wife, to be separated from his children because of the divorce; to undergo monetary damages; to suffer, to sit at night and cry because he can't see his children.

[T. p. 13:23-25 (RE p. 129)] Finally, Mr. Cook testified that a large part of his damages was the fact that that he no longer gets to see his children because Pierce had alienated him from his children. [T. p.218 (RE 181); T. p.224 (RE p.187); T. p.225 (RE p.188)].

Although the allegation that he no longer gets to see his children as a result of Pierce was a cornerstone of Mr. Cook's allegations, the trial court refused to allow Pierce to cross-examine Mr. Cook about the fact that he does not visit his children because he chooses to live a care-free, jobless

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