## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

## CASE NO. 2006-CP-01842

RONALD HENRY PIERCE	APPELLANT
v.	
ERNEST ALLAN COOK	APPELLEE
ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF F	RANKIN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
BRIEF OF APPELL	EE
ORAL ARCHMENT REO	HESTED

JOHN G. HOLADAY, MSB # GEORGE M. YODER, III, MSB: 681 Towne Center Blvd., Suite A Ridgeland, MS 39157
Telephone: (601) 956-4557

Facsimile: (601) 956-4478

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE ERNEST ALLAN COOK

TABLE OF	CONTENTS	<b>PAGE</b>
CERTIFICA	TE OF INTERESTED PERSONS	i
STATEMEN	T REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT	ii
TABLE OF A	AUTHORITIES	iii
Cours	T OF THE CASEse of Proceedingsnent of Facts Relevant for Issues Presented for Review	1
SUMMARY	OF THE ARGUMENT	2

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's denial of Defendant's Motion for Partial Directed Verdict and for JNOV relating to the lack of a legal expert on behalf of Plaintiff was proper, as Plaintiff did not assert a legal malpractice claim against Defendant. As a result, it was not necessary or required for Plaintiff to have a legal expert in order to prove his case against Defendant. Likewise, the statute of limitations on Plaintiff's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress did not run, as the trial court properly found that the tort of intentional infliction of emotional distress was ongoing and continuous. Therefore, Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict on this basis was properly denied.

The trial court acted properly and without error when it granted Jury Instruction No. 10 relating to the duty of an attorney under contract with a client. The claim asserted by Plaintiff was for breach of contract and not for legal malpractice. This instruction properly informed the jury of the law in the State of Mississippi that an attorney has an obligation to honor the provisions of a contract with his or her client. Thus, the instruction was properly given to the jury.

Defendant incorrectly argues that the trial court made several minor evidentiary errors during the trial of the case and that the totality of these errors constitutes reversible error. Defendant's argument is without merit, as the trial court properly excluded several irrelevant pieces of evidence offered by Defendant at trial. Such evidence included evidence relating to Plaintiff's move to California, the amount of the corpus of Plaintiff's trust, testimony designed to clarify statements made by Defendant on a tape recorded message and evidence relating to the title to the marital home of Plaintiff and his former wife. This evidence was not only properly excluded as irrelevant but also may have been highly prejudicial to Plaintiff if presented to the jury.

Defendant offers no legitimate grounds for a reversal of the jury's award in this case or for the reversal of the trial court's rulings, and the Court should affirm the verdict of the jury and the trial court's rulings.

# <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I.<sup>1</sup> The Trial Court did not err in denying Defendant's Motion for Partial Directed Verdict and in denying Defendant's Motion for JNOV.

This Court has on many occasions definitively stated the standard of review on a trial court's

<sup>&#</sup>x27;For the convenience of the Court, Appellee has utilized in his Brief the same issue number system set out in Appellant's Brief. However, Appellee has changed the titling of these issues to reflect Appellee's position as to each issue.

ruling on a motion for directed verdict. For example, in *Sentinel Industrial Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Industrial Service Corp.*, 743 So.2d 954, 960 (Miss. 1999), this Court set out the standard of review on a motion for directed verdict as follows:

We reiterated our standards of review for denial of a motion for directed verdict, new trial, and J.N.O.V. in *Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc.*, 697 So. 2d 373, 376 (Miss. 1997):

This Court's standards of review regarding a denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a peremptory instruction are the same. Our standards of review for a denial of a judgment notwithstanding the verdict and a directed verdict are also identical. Under this standard, this Court will consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the appellee, giving that party the benefit of all favorable inference that may be reasonably drawn from the evidence. If the facts so considered point so overwhelmingly in favor of the appellant that reasonable men could not have arrived at a contrary verdict, we are required to reverse and render. On the other hand, if there is substantial evidence in support of the verdict, that is, evidence of such quality and weight that reasonable and fair minded jurors in the exercise of impartial judgment might have reached different conclusions, affirmance is required.

Sentinel Industrial Contracting Corp. v. Kimmins Industrial Service Corp., 743 So.2d at 960 (quoting Steele v. Inn of Vicksburg, Inc., 697 So.2d 373, 376 (Miss.1997)).

The trial court's denial of the Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict or, in the alternative, for JNOV was, in all ways, proper. The standard of review of jury verdicts under Mississippi law is well established. In *Junior Food Stores, Inc. v. Rice*, 671 So. 2d 67, 76-77 (Miss. 1996), this Court, citing *Bell v. City of St. Louis*, 467 So.2d 657 (Miss. 1985), stated the standard as follows:

Once the jury has returned a verdict in a civil case, we are not at liberty to direct that judgment be entered contrary to that verdict short of a conclusion on our part that, given the evidence as a whole, taken in the light most favorable to the verdict, no reasonable, hypothetical juror could have found as the jury found.

Bell at 660. In discussing that same standard in Gorman v. McMahon, 792 So.2d 307, 312 (Miss.

2001), this Court cited to its opinion in *City of Jackson v. Locklar*, 431 So.2d 475, 478-79 (Miss. 1983), which held:

Our institutional role mandates substantial deference to the jury's findings of fact and to the trial judge's determination whether a jury issue was tendered... We see the testimony the trial judge heard. We do not, however, observe the manner and demeanor of the witnesses. We do not smell the smoke of the battle. The trial judge's determination whether, under the standards articulated above, a jury issue has been presented, must per force be given great respect here.

Id. Applying this standard to the facts of this case, Plaintiff maintains that this Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for JNOV.

a. The Trial Court properly denied Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Defendant's Motion for a JNOV relating to the lack of legal expert testimony to support Plaintiff's claims.

Plaintiff did not assert a claim for legal malpractice against Defendant. Specifically, Plaintiff did not maintain that Defendant committed malpractice in the performance of the legal actions taken on behalf of himself and his son, Ernie Cook. Plaintiff and his former wife, Kathleen, hired Defendant to represent them and their son, Ernie, in a medical negligence action against certain healthcare providers relating to the administration of a vaccine to Ernie. Defendant took several legal actions on behalf of Plaintiff, his wife and his son. Plaintiff did not assert as part of his claims against Defendant that Defendant had made mistakes in the performance of these legal actions. As Defendant is well aware, all of Plaintiff's claims against Defendant involved the fact that Defendant began having an affair with Plaintiff's wife and ultimately alienated her affections from Plaintiff.

Since Plaintiff did not assert a claim for legal malpractice and since the jury's verdict was not based on that claim, Plaintiff was not required to prove the elements of legal malpractice nor to provide expert testimony to support a claim for legal malpractice. Even if Plaintiff had asserted a

claim for legal malpractice, Plaintiff contends that he did not need an expert. This Court has recognized that experts are not required in all legal malpractice cases. This Court in the case of *Byrd* v. *Bowie*, 933 So. 2d 899, 904-05 (Miss. 2006) stated as follows:

In discussing the need for experts for legal malpractice actions, we stated:

Moreover, attorneys involved in malpractice actions must always remember there is a pragmatic difference between the trial of other professional malpractice cases and a legal malpractice case. In the former class, the lawyers and judges are laymen. In professional malpractice cases, excepting extreme cases, we rely upon experts for guidance. The attorney who finds himself the defendant in a legal malpractice case, however, has a judge and the trial attorneys who are already experts. Hickox, 502 So.2d at 636. Furthermore, "[i]t does not require expert testimony to establish the negligence of an attorney who is ignorant of the applicable statute of limitations or who sits idly by and causes the client to lose the value of his claim for relief." Id. (quoting *George v. Caton*, 93 N.M. 370, 600 P.2d 822, 829 (N.M.Ct.App.1979)).

Byrd v. Bowie, 933 So.2d 899, 904-05 (Miss. 2006).

Clearly, in the case at hand, Plaintiff did not need a legal expert to testify to the standard of care that an attorney should not sleep with a client's wife. Such a heinous act does not fall within the providing of legal services to Plaintiff. Again, even if Plaintiff had asserted a claim for legal malpractice against Defendant, it is well within the knowledge of laymen that an attorney breaches his duties to his client when he has an affair with his wife and alienates her affections from his client. Defendant's argument that Plaintiff needed a legal expert to prove his case is without merit, and the trial court's denial of Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for JNOV were properly denied by the trial court.

# b. The Trial Court properly denied Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict on Plaintiff's claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress relating to the statute of limitations.<sup>2</sup>

Defendant maintains that Plaintiff's claims for intentional infliction of emotional distress should have been dismissed by the trial due to the running of the one year statute of limitations. Despite this argument, the trial court properly found that the affair between Defendant and Plaintiff's wife was a continuing tort. Defendant's reliance on the case of *Slaydon v Hansford*, 830 So 2d. 686 (Miss. 2002) is misplaced. The *Slayden* case is easily distinguishable from the case at hand. First, the incident in *Slaydon*, *supra* was a <u>one time occurrence</u>. The incident in *Slaydon* involved a Waffle House employee who "tainted" certain foods served to the Plaintiff in that case.

Further, this Court has long recognized the concept of "continuing torts" and has provided guidance for trial courts to aid in their analysis of such a concept. The Mississippi Court of Appeals, in 1993, opined in *Stevens v Lake*, 615 So.2d 1177, 1183 (Miss. 1993) that:

This principle applies, however, in situations where the defendant commits repeated acts of wrongful conduct, not where harm reverberates from a single, one-time act or omission:

[W]here a tort involves a continuing or repeated injury, the cause of action accrues at, and limitations begin to run from, the date of the last injury, or when the tortious acts cease. Where the tortious act has been completed, or the tortious acts have ceased, the period of limitations will not be extended on the ground of a continuing wrong.

A "continuing tort" is one inflicted over a period of time; it involves a wrongful conduct that is repeated until desisted, and each day creates a separate cause of action. A continuing tort sufficient to toll a statute of limitations is occasioned by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In the first sentence of sub-paragraph b of Defendant's Brief, he erroneously refers to a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. The record does not contain any Motion for Partial Summary Judgment filed by Defendant. Plaintiff therefore has responded to this issue assuming that Defendant is referring to the Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for JNOV filed by Defendant on the statute of limitations issue.

continual unlawful acts, not by continual ill effects from an original violation.

C.J.S., Limitations of Actions § 177 at 230-31 (emphasis added); see also Hendrix, 911 F.2d at 1102 (where violation occurs outside limitations period but is closely related to violations occurring within the period, recovery is permitted on theory that all violations are part of one continuing act).

Stevens, 615 So.2d at 1183 (emphasis in original).

More recently, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has held that the continuing tort doctrine can apply to a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress provided that the tortious conduct is continuing. In the case of *McCorkle v. McCorkle*, 811 So.2d 258, 263-64 (Miss. App. 2001), the Court of Appeals held as follows:

Though this cause of action may be subject to the one year statute, it is not necessary that we so hold in order to determine if Mack's cause of action was timely filed. The continuing tort doctrine and facts of this case clearly indicate that Mack filed his claim in a timely fashion. The trial court was correct in its evaluation of the case as one where the evidence disclosed a continuing course of conduct with the most recent incident being Donald's second application for Mack's commitment. A continuing tort involves a repeated injury and the cause of action begins to run from the date of the last injury, tolling the statute of limitations. Smith v. Franklin Custodian Funds. Inc., 726 So.2d 144(¶ 17) (Miss.1998). Donald's wrongful conduct began in August 1994, with the first commitment proceeding, and continued until September 1997, with the culmination of the second commitment proceeding. Mack's complaint was filed just seven months after Donald's second application for Mack's commitment was filed, which tolled the statute and was clearly within its one year limit. Though the first commitment hearing and its related subsequent events prior to the second commitment hearing occurred outside the limitations period, the violation is closely related to the violations occurring within the limitations period and recovery is permitted on the theory that all violations are part of one continuing act. Stevens v. Lake, 615 So.2d 1177, 1183 (Miss. 1993); Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252, 1255-56 (Miss. 1994). Under this theory, evidence of the first commitment filed by Donald in August 1994, and the subsequent sequence of events following, through the second commitment hearing, were properly before the court.

McCorkle v. McCorkle, 811 So.2d 258, 263-64 (Miss. App. 2001).

The evidence presented at trial clearly establishes that Defendant continued to have sexual

relations with Plaintiff's wife and continued to alienate the affections of Plaintiff's wife. Defendant continued the affair with Plaintiff's wife which eventually led to Plaintiff and his wife getting divorced. Tr. at 184. The trial court, in its analysis of this claim, reviewed the facts, the evidence and the case law in making its decision to deny Defendant's motion. The trial court correctly found that the continuing tort continued up to and until the actual entry of the divorce judgment, which notably was obtained based on the adultery between Defendant and Plaintiff's wife. Tr. at 184. Defendant cannot with credibility now assert that his tortious activity was not continuing in nature.

As suggested by the above case law, Defendant's actions in the case at hand constitute a "continuing course of conduct." *McCorkle*, 811 So. 2d at 263. As such, the trial court correctly ruled that Plaintiff's claim of intentional infliction of emotional distress was not time barred and properly denied Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and Motion for JNOV on this basis.

## II. The trial court properly granted Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20).

Defendant asserts that the trial court erred when it granted Jury Instruction No. 10 (P20) which read as follows:

The Court instructs the Jury that a lawyer owes his clients duties falling into three broad categories, duty of care, duty of loyalty and duties provided by contract.

See Jury Instruction No. 10. Plaintiff disagrees.

First, it is important to establish that this Court has many times stated that jury instructions are to be read as a whole. In *Whiddon v. Smith*, 2002 WL 485816 (Miss. App. 2002) ¶18, the Court dealt with an argument similar to the one that Defendant now makes that "an instruction was confusing because it amounted to an abstract statement of the law unaccompanied by any direction to the jury as to how that statement should be applied to [that] case." *Id.* There, the Court held:

[J]ury instructions are not considered in isolation. Rather, when reversal is sought on the basis that the jury was improperly instructed, the reviewing court must read all of the instructions and determine whether, on that basis, it is satisfied that the jury was adequately and properly instructed on the legal principles necessary to properly resolve the case...

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